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 1 JUDGE WEBER:  And Petitioner

 2 wanted to proceed next; is that correct?

 3 MR. BRECHER:  Pardon me?

 4 JUDGE WEBER:  Would you refresh my

 5 memory, is it the OUCC that's going last?

 6 MR. BRECHER:  Yes.  I believe the

 7 next witness would be the Petitioner's -- the

 8 Applicant's witness, Your Honor.

 9 JUDGE WEBER:  Thank you.  Then,

10 Mr. Brecher, you may present your case-in-

11 chief.

12 MR. BRECHER:  At this time, I call

13 to the Stand Mr. F.J. Pollak.

14 JUDGE WEBER:  And I believe Mr.

15 Pollak has not been sworn.  So, Mr. Pollak, if

16 you could raise your right hand before taking

17 your seat so I can swear you in.

18  

19          (OATH DULY ADMINISTERED TO WITNESS) 

20  

21 MR. BRECHER:  May I proceed?

22 JUDGE WEBER:  One moment, Mr.

23 Brecher.

24 I apologize.  Mr. Brecher, you may

25 proceed.
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 1 MR. BRECHER:  May I proceed?

 2 Thank you.

 3 JUDGE WEBER:  You may.

 4  

 5 F.J. POLLAK, a witness appearing on behalf of the 

 6              Petitioner, on Direct and Rebuttal, 

 7              having been first duly sworn, 

 8              testified as follows: 

 9  

10 DIRECT EXAMINATION,

11    QUESTIONS BY MR. BRECHER:

12 Q Good morning, Mr. Pollak.  Please state your

13 name and business address and title.

14 A F.J. Pollak, 9700 Northwest 112th Street,

15 Miami, Florida 33178.  I'm President and CEO

16 of TracFone Wireless.

17 Q Mr. Pollak, do you have before you two

18 documents that are identified as direct

19 testimony of -- and exhibits of F.J. Pollak

20 and amended rebuttal testimony and exhibits of

21 F.J. Pollak?

22 A Yes, I do.

23 Q I'd like those marked for identification.  If

24 they are already marked, okay; fine.

25 Mr. Pollak, were those two
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 1 documents, your direct testimony and your

 2 amended rebuttal testimony, prepared by you or

 3 under your supervision?

 4 A Yes.

 5 Q Do you have any corrections or additions to

 6 your direct testimony or your rebuttal

 7 testimony?

 8 A No.

 9 Q Mr. Pollak, if I were to ask you the same

10 questions today under oath as you responded to

11 in your direct and rebuttal testimony, would

12 your answers be the same?

13 A Yes.

14 MR. BRECHER:  At this time, I'd

15 move the admission into evidence of Mr.

16 Pollak's direct testimony and Mr. Pollak's

17 rebuttal testimony.

18 JUDGE WEBER:  And I have those

19 marked as Petitioner's 1 with attached FJP-1

20 and FJP-2 and also Petitioner's 1-R, which is

21 the revised rebuttal testimony, with attached

22 Exhibits FJP-3 and FJP-4.

23 Are there any objections?

24 MR. MILLER:  No further objections

25 beyond those already dealt with, Your Honor.
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 1 JUDGE WEBER:  Thank you.  So --

 2 MS. KROHN:  No objections, Your

 3 Honor.

 4 JUDGE WEBER:  Thank you.  So the

 5 Commission will admit into the record

 6 Petitioner's Exhibit 1 with FJP-1 and 2

 7 attached and Petitioner's Exhibit 1-R with

 8 FJP-3 and 4 attached without new objections.

 9  

10                (PETITIONER'S EXHIBIT NO. 1, BEING 

11                THE PREFILED DIRECT TESTIMONY OF 

12                MR. F.J. POLLAK, WITH EXHIBIT NOS. 

13                FJP-1 AND FJP-2 ATTACHED THERETO, 

14                AND PETITIONER'S EXHIBIT NO. 1-R, 

15                BEING THE PREFILED AMENDED 

16                REBUTTAL TESTIMONY OF MR. F.J. 

17                POLLAK, WITH EXHIBIT NOS. FJP-3 

18                AND FJP-4 ATTACHED THERETO, 

19                ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.) 

20  

21  

22  

23  

24  

25  
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 1 MR. BRECHER:  At this time, Mr.

 2 Pollak is available for cross-examination.

 3 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Arceneaux, do

 4 you have questions for this witness?

 5 MR. ARCENEAUX:  I do not, Your

 6 Honor.  Thank you.

 7 JUDGE WEBER:  Thank you.

 8 Mr. Miller, you may proceed.

 9 MR. MILLER:  Thank you, Your

10 Honor.

11  

12 CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MR. F.J. POLLAK,

13    QUESTIONS BY MR. MILLER:

14 Q Good morning, Mr. Pollak.  My name is Clay

15 Miller.  I'm the attorney representing the

16 Wireless Board in today's case.

17 I have some background questions

18 first.  When did you co-found TracFone?

19 A May of 1996.

20 Q And has TracFone ever had a name besides

21 TracFone?

22 A Yes, it has.

23 Q What was that name?

24 A It was Topp Telecom.

25 Q Did TracFone ever do business in Indiana as
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 1 Topp Telecom?

 2 A I believe so, yes.

 3 Q Do you know whether Topp Telecom ever had a

 4 CTA in Indiana?

 5 A I don't know.

 6 Q Okay.  And you said you co-founded TracFone.

 7 Was there -- Who was your other founder?

 8 A David Topp.

 9 Q I'm sorry?

10 A David Topp, and that's two Ps, by the way.

11 Q And is Mr. Topp involved today in the running

12 of TracFone?

13 A No, he's not.

14 Q Okay.  Now, do you consider -- Well, I take it

15 from your position that you are the Chief

16 Operating Officer of TracFone?  You run the

17 show; is that a fair characterization?

18 A Well, no, I'm the Chief Executive Officer of

19 TracFone and its President.

20 Q Thank you.

21 Do you consider running TracFone

22 to be your full-time job or is it a part-time

23 job?

24 A No, it's my full-time job, aside from managing

25 my kids.
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 1 Q And it wasn't clear to me from the testimony,

 2 are you an attorney?

 3 A No, I'm not an attorney.  

 4 Q So, you're not offering any legal opinions as

 5 an expert in this cause?

 6 A No.

 7 Q Your CTA application and your own testimony

 8 lists the address of the company at 9700

 9 Northwest 112th Avenue, and that is where your

10 office is; am I correct?

11 A Yes, that's where my office is.

12 Q Does TracFone have any other offices?

13 A We have one office outside of our office in

14 Miami.

15 Q And where is that?

16 A It's in Bentonville, Arkansas.

17 Q How many employees does TracFone have?

18 A We have a little more than 600 employees.

19 Q How many states does TracFone provide service?

20 A We provide service in all 50 states along with

21 Puerto Rico.

22 Q Okay.  I believe I've heard from your general

23 counsel that all of TracFone's service is done

24 on a prepaid basis; is that -- is my

25 understanding correct?

                                                     C- 



    89

 1 A Yes, that's correct.

 2 Q So 100 percent of TracFone's customers are

 3 prepaid?

 4 A Yes, that's correct.

 5 Q Thank you.

 6 In trying to understand the

 7 prepaid service that TracFone provides, am I

 8 correct that the service is sold as a

 9 combination of time; that is, minutes of use

10 and some kind of expiration date?

11 Are those the two components of

12 the service?

13 A Well, there is a minute component and a time

14 component, but the word expiration may not

15 really apply.

16 Q Okay.  So, there are some products that don't

17 have any expiration date?

18 A Well, the cards have a period of time that --

19 Basically, if a card has up to 90 days or up

20 to one year, if minutes are used -- For

21 example, you can buy a 60-minute card which

22 has up to 90 days, and you could use that in

23 60 minutes.  You could also not use it at all,

24 and if you haven't bought any more cards, on

25 the 91st day, your service would be inactive.
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 1 However, if you buy service

 2 somewhere during the period of time between

 3 Day 1 and Day 90, you actually get more days

 4 added to the ones that you already have.

 5 So, it's not really a firm

 6 expiration date.

 7 Q Thank you for that explanation.  My question

 8 really has to do with when there is a single

 9 transaction.  

10 So, if I don't renew -- if I don't

11 add to the minutes, then, do all of your

12 products have an expiration date?

13 A I believe so, yes.  

14 Q You listed a couple of examples.  Do you know

15 what the most minutes I could buy today on a

16 TracFone card would be?

17 What's your biggest -- your

18 Cadillac product?  

19 A I believe -- I'm not really sure.  Somewhere

20 between 800 and a thousand minutes, I think.

21 Q Pardon?

22 A 800 to a thousand minutes, I think.

23 Q And a card at that level, what sort of time

24 expiration would be associated with that

25 purchase?
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 1 A It would be -- On TracFone or Net 10, it would

 2 be multiple months.  I'm not sure exactly how

 3 many months.  I know we have an 800-minute

 4 card that has one year -- up to one year.

 5 Q Is one year the max range for your cards?

 6 A I believe so, yes.

 7 Q And I know that you've described, for example,

 8 the conundrum that you perceive given how many

 9 of your cards are sold from retail providers

10 rather than directly from TracFone, but I'm

11 trying to get a sense of how many first-time

12 customers purchase their service from TracFone

13 directly from TracFone as opposed to

14 purchasing their service through a third-party

15 retailer.

16 A I'm not really clear exactly what you're

17 asking.  Are you saying when they buy a phone

18 because they have to buy a phone first; so --

19 Q So -- And thank you for asking for

20 clarification.

21 So, if I'm not currently a

22 TracFone customer, but I want to be a

23 customer, the first thing I have to do is buy

24 a phone; do I understand you correctly?

25 A You have to buy a TracFone, yes.
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 1 Q A TracFone?

 2 A Or one of our other brands.

 3 Q And can I buy that from TracFone directly?

 4 A You can, yes.

 5 Q Okay.  And what percentage of TracFone's

 6 customers buy their phones directly from

 7 TracFone?

 8 A Well, I don't know the exact percentage, but

 9 it's under 10 percent.

10 Q Under 10 percent; okay.

11 And, presumably, as part of that

12 same transaction, the phone has some minutes

13 already loaded on to it?

14 A I believe so on all those phones, yes.

15 Q And then I think you indicated that at some

16 point, a customer has the option of purchasing

17 additional minutes; so, they don't have to buy

18 a new phone, but they could buy more time.  

19 First of all, am I correct in

20 characterizing what you said earlier?

21 A I'm not sure I said that, but yes, they can

22 buy more time.  

23 Q Okay.  And to the extent a customer purchases

24 either the phone itself or time or some

25 combination of that directly from TracFone, is
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 1 that a transaction which would prompt TracFone

 2 to pay the 9-1-1 fee in Indiana?

 3 A I believe that today we pay 9-1-1 fees on all

 4 purchases of air time made directly by our

 5 customers, fees we can collect directly from

 6 our end-users.  

 7 Q Okay.  And how do you go about collecting

 8 those fees directly from your end-users?

 9 A Well, I believe when they purchase air time

10 from us directly, we add a surcharge to that

11 transaction, and we collect that surcharge and

12 remit it to the State of Indiana.

13 Q Okay.  But you also sell not only phones but

14 time cards through third-party retailers?  

15 I believe you -- Well, am I

16 correct that TracFone, in addition to selling

17 phones and cards over the Internet, it also

18 sells phones and cards through third-party

19 retailers?

20 A Most of our phones and air time cards are sold

21 through third-party retailers.

22 Q Okay.  When you say most, what percentage are

23 we talking about?  Again, more than 90 percent

24 or --

25 A Well, I said we sold less than 10 percent
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 1 direct; so, yes, it would be more than

 2 90 percent would be indirect through those

 3 retailers.

 4 Q So phones and air time, it would be more than

 5 90 percent are through third-party retailers?

 6 A Yes, that's correct.

 7 Q Is it between 5 percent and 10 percent or is

 8 it less than 5 percent?

 9 A I'm sorry, what?

10 Q I apologize.  Let me rephrase the question.

11 The direct sales, we've

12 established that they're not more than

13 10 percent.  Now I'm just asking to try to

14 narrow that any further if we can.

15 Is it between 5 and 10 percent or

16 is it less than 5 percent?

17 A Well, again, phones and air time are two

18 different things.  So, less than 10 percent of

19 the phones that we sell are sold direct.  I

20 think overall, across all states, somewhere

21 between 10 and 15 -- 10 and 20 -- 10 to 20

22 percent of our air time is sold directly to

23 end-users nationwide.  

24 Q And do you know what your experience is in

25 Indiana?  You mentioned nationwide.
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 1 A Not off the top of my head, no.

 2 Q Okay.  I want to direct your attention to the

 3 CTA application itself which -- bear with me a

 4 moment -- I believe that was Exhibit FJP-1,

 5 and if you turn to Page 2, and this is Section

 6 II E.

 7 MR. BRECHER:  Your Honor, if I

 8 could interrupt.  I just want to make sure

 9 that Mr. Pollak has the application in front

10 of him.  It's an exhibit to his prefiled

11 direct testimony toward the back.

12 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Brecher, if

13 you'd like to approach and find that for him,

14 you may.  I'm not sure what he has in front of

15 him.

16 MR. BRECHER:  Thank you, Your

17 Honor.

18 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Miller, would

19 you repeat, again, where you are in that

20 application, please?

21 MR. MILLER:  Sure.  I'm in the CTA

22 application on Page 2, and then at the very

23 bottom of Page 2, we're in Section II,

24 Question and Answer E.

25 Q Could you -- First of all, am I correct, Mr.
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 1 Pollak, that you prepared this application or

 2 that you had it prepared for you?

 3 A It was prepared by my lawyers.

 4 Q Okay.  And you are the one who verified and

 5 signed it; is that correct?

 6 A Yes, that's correct.

 7 Q Okay.  Could you, please, read Question and

 8 Answer E?

 9 A "Please provide an estimated date of

10 deployment (year and quarter) for each service

11 area and each service type within that area

12 for which the applicant seeks authority.  The

13 services listed should be consistent with the

14 services marked at the top of Page 1."

15 Q And your answer?

16 A "July 1, 2009".

17 Q Okay.  And I just -- I would just note I

18 was -- Well, how did you come to pick July 1,

19 2009 as the date for that answer, if you know?

20 A That was the date provided to me by our

21 attorneys, on advice of counsel.

22 Q Okay.  Was TracFone offering services prior to

23 July 1, 2009?

24 A Yes, we were.

25 Q In Indiana?
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 1 A Yes, we were.

 2 Q Okay.  So, July 1, 2009 was not the estimated

 3 date of deployment of those services; it was

 4 sometime prior to that?

 5 A Well, July 1st, 2009 was the answer to the

 6 question as my attorney -- at the advice of my

 7 attorneys.  We provided service in Indiana

 8 going back many years before that.

 9 Q And, in fact, are you aware that TracFone

10 attempted to apply for a CTA in Indiana in

11 October of 2008?

12 A Is that a question?

13 Q Yes.  Are you aware?

14 A No, I'm not aware of that.

15 MR. MILLER:  Your Honor, may I

16 approach the Bench and the witness?

17 JUDGE WEBER:  You may.

18 MR. MILLER:  Thank you.

19 I'm going to ask the Court

20 Reporter to mark this as Wireless Board's

21 Cross-Examination Exhibit No. 1.

22  

23                (Reporter marked document for 

24                identification as Intervenor's - 

25                Wireless Board Exhibit No. CX-1) 
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 1 Q Mr. Pollak, I've handed you what I've asked

 2 the Reporter to mark as Wireless Board's

 3 Cross-Examination Exhibit No. 1.

 4 Can you read the title of that

 5 document?

 6 A "State of Indiana Indiana Utility Regulatory

 7 Commission" -- Regulatory Commission -- I

 8 can't tell what it says because it's --

 9 Q That's all right.

10 A "Complaint of the Indiana Wireless Enhanced

11 9-1-1 Advisory Board against TracFone

12 Wireless, Inc. Respondent: TracFone Wireless

13 Inc. Cause No. 43524".

14 Q And actually, I was really only asking for the

15 heading which comes next.

16 A "TracFone's Notice of CTA Filing".

17 Q Okay.  Is this the first time that you've seen

18 this document?

19 A I believe so, yes.

20 Q Would it surprise you to know that TracFone

21 filed for a CTA in this cause number?

22 A No, but I don't know anything about it.

23 Q Well, what's the date on this document as

24 filed at the top right?

25 A It is stamped October 17, 2008 by the Indiana
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 1 Utility Regulatory Commission.

 2 Q Do you have an opinion as to whether the

 3 services for which TracFone sought a CTA by

 4 virtue of this -- what's described in this

 5 notice are the same services that are covered

 6 by your CTA application or are they some

 7 different services?

 8 A Well, to be honest, I don't know.  Since I

 9 didn't have anything to do with this filing,

10 I'm not sure what this filing was for, but I

11 do know that we provide prepaid services in

12 Indiana and have done so for some time.

13 Q Okay; all right.

14 Well -- And so the services that

15 you are seeking the CTA and for which you've

16 said were deployed on July 1, 2009, are those

17 the same services that you provided for some

18 time in Indiana or are they different

19 services?

20 A As I said earlier, the July 1st, 2009 answer

21 in the application was provided by my

22 attorneys.  I don't know if the services are

23 the same or different services as the services

24 we provided before.

25 Q Okay.  Has TracFone altered its service
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 1 requirements or its service offerings in

 2 Indiana during the course of the period that

 3 you're describing it's been offering them in

 4 Indiana?

 5 A Well, our services have changed a lot since

 6 1996, '97, '98.  Our services are continually

 7 evolving.  

 8 Q Do you have an opinion as to whether you need

 9 to change your CTA application every time your

10 services evolved or does the application cover

11 your services more generally?

12 MR. BRECHER:  I'm going to object.

13 I've been pretty patient up to now, but I

14 don't see the relevancy, Your Honor, of this

15 line of questions.

16 I note that the witness was

17 presented with a document styled notice of CTA

18 filing.  Conspicuously absent is the CTA

19 filing itself which was attached to this

20 document.  In fact, if you look closely at the

21 document which counsel handed out, you can

22 even see the staple marks up in the upper

23 left-hand corner.

24 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Brecher, if I

25 may interrupt.  Just to clarify, the CTA was
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 1 never attached to this filing.  It was just a

 2 notice.  There is a second page -- There was a

 3 second page attached that was more of a

 4 signature block.  The CTA was never filed.

 5 MR. BRECHER:  But to continue my

 6 objection, this was filed in Cause No. 43524

 7 which, as I understand it, is not being heard

 8 today.  That is a pending Commission

 9 proceeding which I assume there will be a

10 hearing on at some point, and Mr. Miller will

11 have an opportunity to address any TracFone

12 filings that were made in that cause.

13 If it will help move things along

14 so we can all get out of here, I will

15 stipulate to the fact that yes, indeed, on

16 October 17th, or thereabouts, 2008, TracFone,

17 at the direction of the Commission, in Cause

18 No. 43524 filed an application for a CTA.  It

19 drafted that application consistent with the

20 law as it then -- consistent with TracFone's

21 understanding and TracFone's counsel's

22 understanding of the law as it then existed.

23 The law changed effective July 1, 2009, and

24 TracFone's presently pending CTA application

25 was filed based on the law that went into
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 1 effect July 1, 2009.

 2 With that explanation, perhaps we

 3 can move things along a bit.

 4 MR. MILLER:  I think we can move

 5 things along.

 6 JUDGE WEBER:  Great.  Do you have

 7 additional questions?

 8 MR. MILLER:  Oh, I do.  Thank you,

 9 Your Honor, but not on --

10 JUDGE WEBER:  You may proceed.

11 MR. MILLER:  -- CX-1.

12 Now, with that stipulation,

13 though, I would move into the record

14 Plaintiff's - Wireless Board Cross-Examination

15 Exhibit No. 1.

16 JUDGE WEBER:  Is there an

17 objection, Mr. Brecher?

18 MR. BRECHER:  No objection, Your

19 Honor.

20 JUDGE WEBER:  Thank you.  The

21 Commission will admit into the record Wireless

22 Board's Cross-Examination Exhibit No. 1

23 without objection.

24  

25  
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 1                (INTERVENOR'S - WIRELESS BOARD 

 2                EXHIBIT NO. CX-1, BEING A DOCUMENT 

 3                ENTITLED "TRACFONE'S NOTICE OF CTA 

 4                FILING" IN IURC CAUSE NO. 43524, 

 5                ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.) 

 6  

 7  

 8  

 9  

10  

11  

12  

13  

14  

15  

16  

17  

18  

19  

20  

21  

22  

23  

24  

25  
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 1 Q (Mr. Miller continuing)  Mr. Pollak, do all of

 2 TracFone's active customers have the ability

 3 to call 9-1-1?

 4 A Well, the thing about wireless is that

 5 everybody that has a phone, whether it is

 6 active or not, can call 9-1-1.  In fact, the

 7 phones that Wal-Mart has sitting on the

 8 shelves can dial 9-1-1 today.

 9 Q I take it your answer is yes?

10 A I said all phones can dial 9-1-1 active or

11 not.

12 Q So the answer is yes?

13 A I think I answered yes, all phones can dial

14 9-1-1.

15 Q Now you have.  Thank you.

16 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Miller, before

17 you proceed, Mr. Pollak, would you mind

18 pulling that microphone closer to your mouth,

19 please?

20 WITNESS POLLAK:  Yes, Your Honor.

21 JUDGE WEBER:  I appreciate it.

22 Thank you.

23 Mr. Miller, you may proceed.

24 MR. MILLER:  Thank you.

25 Q I believe -- Well, in fact, you did attach as
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 1 exhibits to your amended rebuttal testimony

 2 Affidavits which were admitted earlier into

 3 this proceeding during the cross-examination

 4 of Mr. Lowden which describe three other

 5 wireless carriers and their methodology for

 6 collecting and remitting the wireless 9-1-1

 7 fee to the Wireless Board in Indiana.

 8 First of all, have I -- Are you

 9 with me so far?

10 A I'm trying to follow you, yes.  

11 Q Okay.  Those three Affidavits describe three

12 different approaches to satisfying the fee

13 requirements, and I'd be interested in knowing

14 whether TracFone follows any of the

15 methodologies that are set forth in those

16 Affidavits for its fee remittance practices in

17 Indiana.

18 A Well, before I answer that, I want to make

19 a -- because this is part of the answer -- I

20 think that the law on how 9-1-1 fees are

21 collected on prepaid wireless customers is --

22 and this is not a 9-1-1 hearing from what I

23 understand.  

24 So, with that said, because I

25 don't think this is a 9-1-1 hearing, I can
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 1 tell you that -- By the way, no statute in any

 2 state that requires 9-1-1 fees to be billed to

 3 end-users and collected from end-users for

 4 prepaid has ever worked, and what I understand

 5 from the Affidavits are the following:  1,

 6 Centennial doesn't collect and remit anything

 7 according to the Affidavit; 2, I believe that

 8 AT&T collects 9-1-1 fees.  They can do that

 9 because they have them stored in a switch from

10 only customers that they can collect from who

11 have a positive balance, and then I believe

12 Verizon only remits from customers that have a

13 positive balance.

14 So, they're all different

15 methodologies.  One doesn't pay at all; one

16 remits only what it can collect, and by the

17 way, that's what TracFone does today is we

18 remit only what we can collect.  So, I would

19 say that we do the same thing as AT&T.  And

20 then Verizon remits only what it can collect,

21 but it doesn't collect it according to the

22 Affidavit; they remit it out of their own

23 pocket.

24 Q Okay.  So, I can't -- I'm trying to

25 determine -- I realize that was an attempt to
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 1 answer my question certainly with an

 2 explanation, but was it a yes or a no?  

 3 Are you following any one of these

 4 methodologies yourself or is TracFone doing

 5 something different?

 6 A Well, I think I actually answered your

 7 question because I said that AT&T, according

 8 to their Affidavit, remits 9-1-1 fees that it

 9 can collect from its customers, only what it

10 can collect from its customers, and TracFone

11 is also remitting 9-1-1 fees today that it can

12 only collect from its customers.  So, we're

13 doing the same thing that AT&T is today

14 according to their Affidavit.

15 Q Okay.  So, AT&T -- Do you know if AT&T has any

16 customers that it gets through the Internet?

17 A Well, yes, they get customers through the

18 Internet.

19 Q Does AT&T utilize any third-party retailers?

20 A Yes, they sell at all the same retailers that

21 we do.

22 Q Okay.  Does AT&T pay a fee for the customers

23 that it gets through third-party retailers?

24 A Well, from what I understand in their

25 Affidavit, they don't pay a fee on anything.
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 1 They only remit what they can collect from

 2 their customers, and they do remit what they

 3 can collect from their customers.  Those are

 4 all their customers; any customer that they

 5 have.

 6 Q Including customers that they've obtained

 7 through retail sales?

 8 A Yes.  They remit what they can collect from

 9 their customers.

10 Q Right.  I'm trying to understand, Mr. Pollak.

11 You've said you do what AT&T does, and I think

12 it is clear that you don't do what AT&T does

13 because --

14 MR. BRECHER:  Your Honor, is

15 counsel testifying?

16 MR. MILLER:  I'm --

17 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Miller, do you

18 intend to ask a question?

19 MR. MILLER:  I do intend to ask a

20 question --

21 JUDGE WEBER:  Please proceed then.

22 MR. MILLER:  -- if I hadn't been

23 interrupted, but let me start over.

24 JUDGE WEBER:  Thank you.

25 Q Do I understand that what you just said to be
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 1 that AT&T pays the fee for all customers that

 2 have prepaid service as long as they have more

 3 than -- Well, strike that.

 4 Do you understand that Indiana has

 5 a definition of active prepaid subscriber

 6 accounts in its statute?

 7 A I'm not sure what -- No, I don't know what it

 8 has in its statute.  

 9 Q Okay.  Do you believe that Indiana requires a

10 fee to be paid for every prepaid customer

11 regardless of whether they have 2 cents or $2

12 in their account?

13 A No, I don't actually.  I think that the

14 Indiana statute requires all 9-1-1 fees to be

15 billed and collected from prepaid customers,

16 and I don't think that anybody is billing and

17 collecting prepaid fees from its customers

18 which is a matter of 9-1-1 litigation which is

19 not a matter of this hearing.

20 Q Okay.  So, AT&T, as you've said, and you've

21 described their Affidavit, they remit based on

22 all of their customers -- they remit

23 something -- Let me back up.

24 AT&T remits something for all of

25 its customers that have more than zero in
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 1 their accounts; is that correct?

 2 A Well, again, based on the Affidavit they

 3 filed, it is pretty clear to me that they

 4 remit only what they can collect from their

 5 prepaid wireless customers.

 6 Q Are there customers from whom they cannot

 7 collect?

 8 A I believe so.  They can't collect from people

 9 that have 50 cents -- I'm sorry, that have --

10 whatever the fee -- What's the fee in Indiana?

11 Q 50 cents.

12 A Well, I doubt they can collect from customers

13 that have actually 40 cents.  Maybe they can;

14 maybe they can collect 40 cents instead of 50

15 cents, but I know customers that have zero,

16 they can't collect if -- and, again, at the

17 end of the month -- I mean, a prepaid customer

18 could have zero at the end of the month, and

19 they could have $20 on the first day of the

20 month.

21 So, according to their Affidavit,

22 it says they remit what they can collect from

23 their customers; customers that have, I

24 believe, more than zero in their account.

25 Q Okay.  So, the example you gave, if the
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 1 customer has 40 cents in their account, they

 2 remit 40 cents; is that your understanding?

 3 A Well, I'm not sure if that's what they do.  I

 4 think in their Affidavit they say that they

 5 remit, basically, what they can collect from

 6 customers, and they say they remit if the

 7 customer has more than zero; so, I'm only

 8 going to assume, which I don't really think is

 9 appropriate for me to assume, that they might

10 remit 30 cents or 20 cents or 10 cents or 1

11 cent if there is 1 cent in the account.  I

12 don't know.

13 Q Well, I'm afraid I do have to ask you to

14 assume since you've said that -- you're the

15 one who has offered this AT&T Affidavit, and

16 you're the one who said you're doing what AT&T

17 is doing; so, I'm trying to understand what

18 you're doing and to explore whether that is

19 consistent.  

20 So, are you assuming that they do

21 pay 40 cents if a customer has a 40 cent

22 balance or not?

23 MR. BRECHER:  I'm going to object.

24 If counsel wants to ask the witness what his

25 company is doing, he certainly can do so.  I
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 1 didn't hear that question.  The question that

 2 I heard, Your Honor, was what is AT&T doing,

 3 and the only thing that anybody in this room

 4 knows about what AT&T is doing is what AT&T

 5 says it's doing as memorialized in the

 6 Affidavit that's in the record in this

 7 proceeding.  When we get to briefing, we can

 8 argue about how to interpret AT&T's procedure

 9 as described in its Affidavit.

10 I don't think we're going to get

11 any -- We're not going to advance the ball by

12 asking Mr. Pollak what he thinks AT&T is doing

13 beyond what he's already said which is paying

14 on those customers from whom they can collect.

15 He said that at least three times in answer to

16 the last question.  I guess he can say it

17 three more times, but it's going to be the

18 same answer.

19 MR. MILLER:  May I respond, Your

20 Honor?

21 JUDGE WEBER:  You may.

22 MR. MILLER:  This is directly

23 material to this case.  He has said that

24 TracFone is doing what AT&T is doing.  I need

25 to explore what his understanding is of what
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 1 AT&T is doing, and he's -- They want to keep

 2 it at the simple general level that they're

 3 only remitting what they can collect, and if

 4 he wants to make his statement, I'll explain

 5 my line of questioning which is there is a

 6 difference between what these two companies

 7 maintain they are able to collect.

 8 JUDGE WEBER:  I do understand your

 9 line of questioning.  Maybe the question, if

10 you asked it more directly, would be helpful,

11 and what I mean is, I understand that Mr.

12 Pollak has given a few times what his basic

13 understanding is of what AT&T is doing, and

14 maybe if we asked more directly if he

15 understands any more than that, then we can

16 maybe proceed or move on to a different line

17 of questioning.

18 MR. MILLER:  Thank you, Your

19 Honor.  I will attempt to advance the ball.

20 Q If a TracFone customer has 40 cents in their

21 account, does TracFone remit that amount to

22 the Wireless Board at the end of the month?

23 A TracFone cannot collect a balance -- We can't

24 collect from those users because we have no

25 access to their balance.
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 1 AT&T and Verizon, who are carriers

 2 that have their own telecommunication

 3 infrastructure, have their prepaid accounts

 4 stored on their network.  It's, basically, in

 5 a computer, and it is very easy for them to go

 6 into a centralized account and say on the end

 7 of -- at the last day of the month, here is

 8 all the people that have a balance of X or Y

 9 or Z and go in in the middle of the night, by

10 the way, which is not, by the way, very good

11 and not consumer friendly, and take all the

12 money out of the account up to the 50 cent

13 fee.  They can do that because they're a

14 carrier, and they own facilities, and they

15 have technology that allows them to do that.

16 TracFone is not a carrier.  We

17 don't own facilities, and the only way we can

18 do prepaid was to create technology that has

19 prepaid balances stored in phones, and we do

20 not have the technology or the wherewithal to

21 go into peoples' accounts and their phones to

22 see if they have the money and take the money

23 out of the account.

24 What I had said before, and I'll

25 say it again, is we do exactly what AT&T does.
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 1 We collect 9-1-1 fees from our prepaid

 2 customers, those that we can collect directly

 3 from.  The ones that we can collect from, we

 4 collect from.  They can collect from more

 5 because they have all their customers in a

 6 switch, but nobody collects from all of their

 7 prepaid customers, and nobody puts prepaid

 8 charges on a bill like they're required to by

 9 the statute.  Again, that's a matter for 9-1-1

10 hearings that will be coming up.  

11 Q Well, there is lots to follow up on in that

12 answer.

13 I think -- Did I understand, then,

14 the question or the answer as being no, you do

15 not remit 40 cents because you can't do it?

16 A My answer to your original question was we

17 remit everything we can collect just like

18 AT&T.

19 Q But AT&T can collect the 40 cents, and you

20 cannot?

21 A In your example, yes, that's correct.

22 Q Okay.

23 JUDGE WEBER:  Mr. Miller, let's

24 take a 10-minute break or actually a 15-minute

25 break.
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Pollak's [4]  33/12 34/2 84/16 84/16
portion [11]  6/4 6/4 6/6 13/17 13/25 28/11
 42/24 43/25 44/3 52/13 56/3
portions [1]  4/4
posed [1]  71/14
position [17]  13/23 14/13 22/4 22/5 22/20
 23/2 23/6 33/10 38/10 40/23 55/13 55/14
 55/18 70/11 75/22 76/5 87/15
positive [10]  48/17 49/15 49/19 50/1 50/5
 50/7 80/19 80/22 106/11 106/13
possible [2]  6/13 76/22
post [2]  29/15 68/18
post-consolidation [1]  29/15
post-effective [1]  68/18
practices [5]  38/1 57/9 59/13 61/19 105/16
Pre [1]  3/24
Pre-filed [1]  3/24
preceding [2]  57/19 61/23
prefiled [11]  4/13 8/15 9/6 10/10 27/5 27/8
 43/6 71/2 85/11 85/15 95/10
prefiling [1]  4/10
Prehearing [2]  19/3 28/18
preliminary [4]  11/16 31/14 31/19 32/1
prepaid [66]  15/14 15/17 22/19 23/3 23/5
 23/7 23/15 23/20 23/21 26/7 26/13 26/19
 30/7 30/11 36/24 37/9 37/11 37/12 38/11
 41/4 42/8 42/13 42/25 43/25 48/4 48/16
 48/24 49/14 52/13 54/7 56/4 57/5 58/2
 58/14 58/23 59/10 66/13 68/21 69/14 70/5
 70/7 72/20 79/3 79/12 80/23 80/25 81/5
 88/24 89/3 89/7 99/11 105/21 106/4 109/2
 109/5 109/10 109/15 109/17 110/5 110/17
 114/3 114/18 114/19 115/1 115/7 115/7
prepared [6]  33/20 63/8 84/2 96/1 96/2
 96/3
present [1]  82/10
presentation [1]  6/10
presented [4]  53/20 54/11 59/8 100/17
presently [1]  101/24
President [2]  83/15 87/19
Presiding [1]  5/23
presumably [1]  92/11
pretty [3]  59/17 100/13 110/3
previous [2]  21/9 26/16
previously [3]  10/2 30/19 68/21
printed [1]  2/5
prior [9]  2/7 25/10 27/2 27/2 29/24 40/7
 66/21 96/22 97/4
probably [1]  79/24
problem [9]  38/13 38/14 59/21 60/13
 60/15 60/15 60/22 60/24 77/25
procedure [1]  112/8
proceed [25]  3/20 6/9 6/21 7/14 11/2 11/5


